A. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

The trial court erred by denying Appellant's CrR 3.6 motion to 

suppress evidence. 

Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error 

Did the court err in denying Appellant's motion to suppress on the 

basis that the warrantless search of Appellant's backpack was lawful under 

article 1, section 7 of the Washington Constitution as a search incident to 

arrest, when by the time of the search Appellant had no access to the 

backpack, the search was not necessary for officer safety reasons, and 

there was no concern a prompt search was needed to preserve evidence? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The King County Prosecutor charged Appellant Antoine Brock 

with ten counts of second degree identity theft, three counts of forgery, and 

one count of possession of methamphetamine. CP 35-41; RCW 

9.35.020(1), (3); RCW 9A.60.020(l)(a); RCW 69.50.4013. All charges 

stemmed from a warrantless search of Brock's backpack following his 

arrest in the early morning hours of May 21, 2008, at Golden Gardens Park 

for providing "false information" to Washington Department of Fish and 

Wildlife Officer Eric Olson. CP 6-20. 
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Pretrial, Brock moved to suppress the evidence recovered from his 

backpack. CP 23-34. Brock argued the search of his backpack violated 

his rights under article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution 

because an immediate warrantless search of the backpack was not 

necessary for officer safety or to preserve evidence. CP 32-34. In 

response, the prosecution argued the search was lawful for three reasons: 

(I) Brock claimed the pack was not his so he had no standing to challenge 

the search; (2) the search was lawful as a search incident to arrest of Brock 

for criminal trespass and providing false information; and (3) because 

Brock was going to be arrested, the search was lawful "as part of the 

booking procedure." Supp CP _ (sub no. 37, State's Response to 

Defendant's Motion to Suppress and Trial Memorandum, 611 511 I, at pages 

6-11 ). 

A hearing on Brock's suppreSSIOn motion was heard by the 

Honorable Susan J. Craighead. I RP.1 The only testimony presented was 

that of Officer Olson. I RP 6-72. 

Olson noted that Golden Gardens Park is closed to the public from 

II :30 pm to 6 a.m. I RP 13. Olson explained he was patrolling the park at 

I There are three volumes of verbatim report of proceedings referenced as 
follows: IRP - 6/131I I; 2RP - 611411 I; and 3RP - 6/2811 1. 
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about 3 am on May 21, 2018, when he noticed an individual in the men's 

bathroom. IRP 11, 21. Olson waited outside the bathroom until Brock 

came out wearing baggy clothes and carrying a backpack. 1 RP 23-24, 26. 

Olson had decided to detain the person in the bathroom for 

criminal trespass, so when Brock came out Olson announced he was a 

police officer and told Brock he was not allowed in the park because it was 

closed. 1 RP 24-26. When Brock replied he was unaware the park was 

closed, Olson asked Brock to set down his backpack and told him he was 

going to pat Brock down for weapons. 1 RP 25-26. Brock complied and 

Olson found no weapons. 1 RP 26. 

When Brock said he had no identification on him, Olson asked for 

his name, date of birth and social security number. According to Olson, 

Brock "said his name was Dorien Halley, his date of birth was 07119/67 

with a social security number 560-32-4581." IRP 27. Olson then seized 

Brock's backpack and directed Brock to stand or sit near Olson's patrol car 

so he could continue his investigation. 1 RP 30, 32-33. Olson placed 

Brock's backpack inside the front passenger-side of his patrol car. 1 RP 32. 

The compartments to the backpack were all zipped closed. 1 RP 57-58. 

Olson was unable to validate the identification information Brock 

provided. 1 RP 33, 35. Olson therefore told Brock he was under arrest for 
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providing false information and read him his Miranda warnings, but did 

not handcuff him. lRP 36, 38. 

Olson returned to his patrol car and conducted a preliminary search 

of Brock's backpack to try to determine Brock's true identity, and in the 

process discovered a small bag of marijuana, a small bag of 

methamphetamine, and a "green inmate DOC badge" with Brock's picture 

and name on it. lRP 40-43. As Olson returned to Brock to take him into 

full custody, Brock said, "Backpack's not mine." lRP 43. Olson 

handcuffed Brock and secured him in the back of his patrol car. 1 RP 44, 

58. 

After securing Brock, Olson conducted a more thorough search of 

the backpack and discovered the evidence leading to the identifY theft and 

forgery charges and more suspected drugs and drug paraphernalia. 1 RP 

48-50. Olson also checked for warrants and found an active "DOC arrest 

warrant." Olson said that at that point he was committed to booking Brock 

into the King County jail. 1 RP 50. 

In its oral ruling denying the suppression motion, the trial court 

determined Olson had probable cause to stop and arrest Brock for trespass 

upon discovering him in the closed park. 2RP 4, 9. With regard to the 

search of Brock's backpack, however, the court expressed concern that it 
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may have run afoul of the United State's Supreme Court's decision in 

Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332, 129 S.Ct. 1710, 173 L.Ed.2d 485 (2009), 

which the trial court noted changed the law to preclude warrantless 

searches of automobiles once a defendant no longer has access. 2RP 9-10. 

Ultimately, the trial court felt constrained to limit application of 

Gant to vehicle searches and therefore found the Olson's post-arrest search 

of Brock's backpack lawful as a search incident to arrest. Id. The court 

specifically rejected the prosecution's arguments that the search was 

simply a pre-booking "inventory search," that it was lawful because Brock 

denied the backpack was his, or that discovery of the evidence was 

inevitable. 2RP 11. Subsequently filed written findings and conclusions 

track the court's oral rulings. CP 59-65.2 Brock's subsequent motion to 

reconsider was denied. Supp CP _ (sub no. 36, Motion to Reconsider 

Court's Denial of Motion to Suppress Fruits of Illegal Search Incident to 

Arrest, 6114111); 2RP 18-19. 

Brock was convicted by bench trial on stipulated evidence of all 

charged except one count of identity theft. CP 42-45; Supp CP _ (sub no. 

46B, Order on Stipulated Facts - Finding of Fact and Conclusions of Law, 

6128111); 2RP 30-33. Brock was sentenced to concurrent 24-month terms 

2 A copy of the court's findings and conclusions is attached as an appendix. 
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for each of the forgery and methamphetamine convictions, and concurrent 

50-month Drug Offender Sentencing Alternative sentences for the identity 

theft convictions. CP 47-58; 3RP 19-20. Brock appeals. CP 66-78. 

C. ARGUMENT 

BECAUSE THERE WAS NO OFFICER SAFETY OR 
PRESERVATION OF EVIDENCE BASIS FOR THE SEARCH 
OF BROCK'S BACKPACK, OLSON'S WARRANTLESS 
SEARCH OF THE BACKPACK VIOLA TED BROCK'S RIGHT 
TO PRIV ACY UNDER WASHINGTON CONSTITUTION 
ARTICLE 1, SECTION 7. 

A warrantless search is per se unreasonable under both the Fourth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution and article 1, section 7 of 

the Washington Constitution. See State v. Rankin, 151 Wn.2d 689, 695 

92 P.3d 202 (2004); Coolidge v. New Hampshire, 403 U.S. 443, 91 S. Ct. 

2022, 29 L.Ed.2d 564 (1971). A warrantless search is presumed unlawful 

unless the State proves it falls within one a few narrowly drawn and 

jealously guarded exceptions to the warrant requirement. State v. 

Williams, 102 Wn.2d 733, 736, 689 P.2d 1065 (1984). The State bears a 

"heavy burden" of establishing an exception to the warrant requirement by 

a preponderance of the evidence. State v. Parker, 139 Wn.2d 486, 496, 

987 P.2d 73 (1999). 

A search incident to arrest has historically been an exception to the 

warrant requirement, and allows an immediate search to be conducted in 
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order to secure the safety of the officer or to prevent concealment or 

destruction of evidence of the crime of arrest. State v. Valdez, 167 Wn.2d 

761,773,224 P.3d 751 (2009); Chimel v. California, 395 U.S. 752, 89 S. 

Ct. 2034, 23 L. Ed. 2d 685 (1969). This exception has been broadly 

applied to searches of bags, backpacks and purses incident to the arrest of 

their owners, and to searches of automobiles incident to the arrest of their 

occupants. See~, State v. Ringer, 100 Wn.2d 686, 690, 674 P.2d 1240 

(1983), State v. Stroud, 106 Wn.2d 144, 150-51, 720 P.2d 436 (1986); 

State v. Smith, 119 Wn.2d 675, 835 P.2d 1025 (1992); New York v. 

Belton, 453 U.S. 454, 101 S. Ct. 2860, 69 L. Ed. 2d 768 (1981). Over 

time, however, "the search incident to arrest exception has been stretched 

beyond [its] underlying justifications, permitting searches beyond what 

was necessary for officer safety and preservation of the evidence of the 

crime of arrest." Valdez, 167 Wn.2d at 774. 

The scope of a permissible search incident to arrest was set forth 

by the U.S. Supreme Court in Chimel. In Chimel, an arrest warrant was 

issued the suspect arrested at his home for burglary of a coin shop. 395 

U.S. at 753. Upon arrest, officers conducted a detailed searched of his 

entire home. 395 U.S. at 754. The Court held the search extended far 

beyond the arrestee's person and area within his immediate control, and 

-7-



thus was not necessary to secure the safety of the officers or preserve 

evidence that could be concealed or destroyed, and was therefore 

unconstitutional. 395 U .S.at 768. 

In Belton, the reasoning in Chimel was adapted to the context of a 

search incident to arrest involving occupants of an automobile. 453 U.S. 

at 460. The Belton court cited Chimel for its holding that the scope of the 

officer's search could extend to the area within the immediate control of 

the arrestee to prevent the arrestee from securing weapons or concealing or 

destroying evidence, and reasoned that the occupant of an automobile 

would have immediate control over the entire passenger compartment. 

453 U.S. at 460. Under the facts of Belton, the warrantless search was 

reasonable, and thus constitutional, because the four arrestees were not 

physically restrained and were sufficiently proximate to the car to gain 

access. 453 U.S. at 455. 

In Stroud, the Washington Supreme Court recognized that the State 

constitution provides more privacy protection than its Federal counterpart. 

106 Wn.2d at 148-50. The Stroud Court nevertheless broadened the scope 

of the exception, stating: "During the arrest process, including the time 

immediately subsequent to the suspect's being arrested, handcuffed, and 

placed in a patrol car, officers should be allowed to search the passenger 
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compartment of a vehicle for weapons or destructible evidence." 106 

Wn.2d at 152. Thus, under Stroud, the fact that a defendant is in custody 

and in a patrol car during the search, and unable to access evidence or a 

weapon, was immaterial. 106 Wn.2d at 152. 

Subsequently in Smith, the Washington Supreme Court, relying on 

Belton, adopted a two-part test to establish the validity of a search incident 

to arrest: "(1) if the object searched was within the arrestee's control when 

he or she was arrested; and (2) if the events occurring after the arrest but 

before the search did not render the search umeasonable." 119 Wn.2d at 

The Smith Court held that both requirements were met in that case. 

As to the first prong: 

Smith was wearing the fanny pack when Officer Gonzales 
tackled him. The fanny pack fell off during the struggle 
that preceded the arrest, and was within "one or two steps" 
of Smith at the time of the arrest. Thus Smith was in actual 
physical possession of the fanny pack just prior to the 
arrest, and the fanny pack was within his reach at the 
moment of arrest. 

119 Wn.2d at 682. As to the second prong: 

3 It should be noted as well that the Smith court analyzed the exception 
under the Fourth Amendment, not under Washington's more protective 
Article 1, section 7. 119 Wn.2d at 678; see also Parker, 139 Wn.2d at 493 
(Art. 1, § 7 provides greater protection to an individual's right of privacy 
than that guaranteed by the Fourth Amendment). 
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[Smith] asserts that the fact that he was handcuffed and in 
the back of the police car when Gonzales opened his bag 
rendered the search unreasonable .... We reject [this] 
argument[] . .. [O]nce she arrested Smith, Officer 
Gonzales acted reasonably in taking steps necessary to 
assure her safety. Gonzales' actions were reasonable 
because Smith initially tried to run away, he disobeyed 
Gonzales' order to stop, and because the arrest occurred in a 
parking lot filled with a large group of people. Handcuffing 
Smith and placing him in the back of the police car prior to 
any search of the fanny pack were reasonable actions under 
those circumstances. Therefore the fact that Smith was 
handcuffed in the back of the police car during the search 
does not make that search unreasonable. 

119 Wn.2d at 682-83. 

But in Arizona v. Gant, the United States Supreme Court rejected 

such broad readings of Belton and of the search incident to arrest 

exception. Rodney Gant was arrested for driving with a suspended 

license, handcuffed, and locked in the back of a patrol car. 129 S. Ct. at 

1715. Police officers then searched his car and discovered cocaine in the 

pocket of a jacket on the backseat. 129 S. Ct. at 1715. 

Gant was charged with possession of a narcotic drug for sale and 

possession of drug paraphernalia. He moved to suppress the evidence 

seized from his car on the ground that the warrantless search violated the 

Fourth Amendment. Among other things, Gant argued Belton did not 

authorize the search of his car because he posed no threat to the officers 

after he was handcuffed in the patrol car and because he was arrested for a 
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traffic offense for which no evidence could be found in his vehicle. 129 S. 

Ct. at 1715. 

The Supreme Court agreed, and rejected the then prevailing 

interpretation of Belton as authorizing a vehicle search incident to every 

recent occupant's arrest. 129 S. Ct. at 1714. The Court specifically held: 

Police may search a vehicle incident to a recent occupant's 
arrest only if the arrestee is within reaching distance of the 
passenger compartment at the time of the search or it is 
reasonable to believe the vehicle contains evidence of the 
offense of arrest. When these justifications are absent, a 
search of an arrestee's vehicle will be unreasonable unless 
police obtain a warrant or show that another exception to 
the warrant requirement applies. 

129.S. Ct. at 1723 

Thereafter, the Washington Supreme Court observed: 

[T]he Court in Gant issued a necessary course correction to 
assure that a search incident to the arrest of a recent vehicle 
occupant under the Fourth Amendment takes place "only 
when the arrestee is unsecured and within reaching distance 
of the passenger compartment at the time of the search." 
Gant, 129 S. Ct. at 1719. 

State v. Patton, 167 Wn.2d 379, 394, 219 P.3d 651 (2009). The Court 

held likewise that under article 1, section 7: 

[A]n automobile search incident to arrest is not justified 
unless the arrestee is within reaching distance of the 
passenger compartment at the time of the search, and the 
search is necessary for officer safety or to secure evidence 
of the crime of arrest that could be concealed or destroyed. 
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167 Wn.2d at 383. The risk to officer safety or the possibility that 

evidence will be destroyed must "exist at the time of the search." 167 

Wn.2d at 395. 

Then in Valdez, the Washington Supreme Court again noted the 

improper overexpansion of the search incident to arrest exception: 

[A ]fter an arrestee is secured and removed from the 
automobile, he or she poses no risk of obtaining a weapon 
or concealing or destroying evidence of the crime of arrest 
located in the automobile, and thus the arrestee's presence 
does not justifY a warrantless search under the search 
incident to arrest exception. Stroud's expansive 
interpretation to the contrary was influenced by an 
improperly broad interpretation of BeJton[.] 

167 Wn.2d at 777. The Court further noted "The search incident to arrest 

exception, born of the common law, arises from the necessity to provide 

for officer safety and the preservation of evidence of the crime of arrest, 

and the application and scope of that exception must be so grounded and 

so limited." 167 Wn.2d at 775. 

Here, Brock argued below that the limitations on searches incident 

to arrest expressed in and subsequent to Gant also apply to searches of 

personal items. Brock argued Gant is not exclusive to searches of 

automobiles, but applies equally to searches of cars and "everything else." 

2RP 19. Despite "significant doubts about whether searches incident to 

arrest can, post-Gant, be justified broadly[,]" the trial court determined it 
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did "not have a basis under current law to apply Gant to the search of 

[Brock's] backpack." 2RP 19-20. 

Recently, however, the Division Three of this Court detennined 

Gant does applies to searches of personal items incident to arrest, and 

specifically held that the overly pennissive test in Smith is no longer good 

law. State v. Byrd, 162 Wn. App. 612, 616, 258 P.3d 686, review granted, 

_ Wn.2d _ (November 21,2011). 

In Byrd, Lisa Byrd was arrested for possession of stolen property, 

and after the arresting officer handcuffed Byrd and secured her in his 

patrol car, he conducted a search of her purse incident to arrest. The trial 

court, relying on Gant and Valdez, ruled the search was improper and 

suppressed the contraband found in Byrd's purse. 162 Wn. App. at 614. 

The State appealed, and Division Three addressed whether Gant applies 

beyond vehicle searches. 

The Byrd court noted Gant limits Belton "to authorizing the 

'search [of] a vehicle incident to a recent occupant's arrest only when the 

arrestee is unsecured and within reaching distance of the passenger 

compartment at the time of the search. '" 162 Wn. App. at 616 (quoting 

Gant, 129 S. Ct. at 1719). The Byrd court also recognized that 

Washington cases, including Smith, that authorized the search of a vehicle 
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incident to a recent occupant's arrest after the arrestee has been secured 

and cannot access the inside of the vehicle, were "based on a rejected 

interpretation of Belton; an interpretation that Gant overruled." 162 Wn. 

App. at 616. The court went on to hold: 

We are bound by Gant's interpretation of Belton. And, 
while the State argues that Gant should not apply because it 
involved the search of a vehicle incident to arrest, Gant and 
Belton simply applied the general rules of the search 
incident to arrest exception set out in Chimel to the 
automobile context. A search incident to an arrest is a 
search incident to an arrest whether the object searched is a 
car or a purse. 

162 Wn. App. at 616-17 (citations omitted). 

As noted by both the Byrd and Gant courts, Chimel "continues to 

define the boundaries of the [search incident to arrest] exception." Gant. 

129 S. Ct. at 1716; Byrd, 162 Wn. App. at 617. Chimel did not involve 

the search of a vehicle. And under Chimel, an officer may not, without a 

warrant, search an object that the arrestee cannot reach at the time of the 

search. ChimeI. 395 U.S. at 763-64, 768; Gant. 129 S. Ct. at 1719. 

The Byrd court correctly determined that Gant applies to any 

search incident to arrest, and "an officer may not, without a warrant, 

search an object that the arrestee cannot reach at the time of the search." 

162 Wn. App. at 617 (citing Gant. 129 S. Ct. at 1719; Chimel 395 U.S. at 

763-64, 768). The court also correctly found that because Byrd was 
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secured in handcuffs and in the patrol car when her purse was searched, 

and that she had no way to access the purse at the time, the justifications 

for the search incident to arrest exception did not exist. 162 Wn. App. at 

617. 

Similarly here, at the time of the search, Brock was handcuffed and 

secured in the back of a patrol car when Officer Olson searched the 

backpack, which had been out of Brock's reach since before his arrest. 

1 RP 30, 43-48. Brock could not have accessed the backpack to obtain a 

weapon or destroy evidence. Brock was arrested for providing false 

information and not for any crime relating to the backpack. 1 RP 36. 

There was no basis for Officer Olson to search the backpack without first 

obtaining a search warrant. 

Officer Olson attempted to justifY his initial search of the backpack 

in part on grounds that he was trying to establish Brock's true identity. CP 

61 (finding of fact J). Brock attempted to justifY his subsequent and more 

thorough search of the backpack at least in part on grounds that it was 

required before the jail would take possession of Brock's belongings once 

he was booked. CP 62 (finding of fact N). While establishing Brock's true 

identity and attempting to comply with jail policies may be worthy goals, 

these are not recognized as exception to the warrant requirement. 
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Furthermore, even if the officers could have done an inventory 

search before or after arriving at the jail, this does not cure the taint of the 

prior illegal search, because Washington does not recognize the "good

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