67334-3

NO. 67334-3-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

ANTOINE BROCK,

Appellant.



APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE SUSAN J. CRAIGHEAD

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

RANDI J. AUSTELL Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

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

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE SEARCH OF BROCK'S BACKPACK WAS LAWFUL UNDER ARTICLE I, SECTION 7 OF THE WASHINGTON CONSTITUTION.

Brock argues that Officer Olson conducted an unlawful search incident to arrest when he searched his backpack because there were no concerns about officer safety or the preservation of evidence. Brock's claim fails. Because there was a nexus between Brock, his backpack, and the crime of arrest, the search was lawful.

⁸ The chronology of Brock's arrest and this inventory search is discussed more fully in section C.2 of the Respondent's brief, <u>infra</u>.

Standard Of Review.

This Court reviews a trial court's denial of a motion to suppress to determine whether substantial evidence supports the challenged findings of fact and whether these findings support the trial court's conclusions of law. State v. O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d 564, 571, 62 P.3d 489 (2003). Brock does not challenge the trial court's findings of fact; thus, they are verities on appeal. Id. The Court reviews a trial court's conclusions of law pertaining to evidence suppression motions *de novo*. State v. Carneh, 153 Wn.2d 274, 281, 103 P.3d 743 (2004).

 Officer Olson Lawfully Searched Brock's Backpack Incident To His Arrest.

Article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution prohibits warrantless searches unless one of the narrow exceptions to the warrant requirement applies.⁹ Among the exceptions to the warrant requirement is a search incident to arrest. State v. Vrieling, 144 Wn.2d 489, 492, 28 P.3d 762 (2001). The exception is based on the need for officer safety and to prevent the destruction of evidence of the crime of arrest. State v. Patton, 167 Wn.2d 379,

⁹ Article I, section 7 provides: "No person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law."

386, 219 P.3d 651 (2009). The scope of a search incident to arrest may lawfully extend to "the arrestee's person and the area within his immediate control" or those areas into which an arrestee might reach to grab a weapon or "evidentiary items." Chimel v. California, 395 U.S. 752, 763, 89 S. Ct. 2034, 23 L. Ed. 2d 685 (1969); Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332, 129 S. Ct. 1710, 173 L. Ed. 2d 485 (2009); State v. Valdez, 167 Wn.2d 379, 219 P.3d 651 (2009).

A search incident to arrest may also be justified to search for evidence relevant to the crime of arrest. Gant, 129 S. Ct. at 1719; State v. Wright, 155 Wn. App. 537, 230 P.3d 1063, review granted, 169 Wn.2d 1026 (2010); but see State v. Chesley, 158 Wn. App. 36, 46, 239 P.3d 1160 (2010) (holding the evidence of the crime exception did not independently justify the search incident to arrest). The justification for a search of the arrestee and his belongings derives from the common law:

The general rule is that, where a person is legally arrested, the arresting officer has a right to search such person, and take from his possession money or goods which the officer reasonably believes to be connected with the supposed crime, and discoveries made in this lawful search may be shown at the trial in evidence.

State v. Brown, 83 Wash. 100, 105-06, 145 P. 69 (1914).

In Gant, the United States Supreme Court defined the boundaries of a vehicle search incident to arrest under the Fourth Amendment. 10 Gant was arrested for driving with a suspended license, handcuffed, and locked in the back of the patrol car. Gant, 129 S. Ct. at 1714. Officers searched his car and discovered cocaine in the pocket of a jacket on the backseat. Id. The Court concluded that searching the vehicle violated the Fourth Amendment because Gant could not have accessed his car to retrieve weapons or evidence at the time of the search and the officers had no possibility of discovering offense-related evidence. Id. at 1719-20. The Court stated that "[p]olice may search a vehicle incident to a recent occupant's arrest only if the arrestee is within reaching distance of the passenger compartment at the time of the search or it is reasonable to believe the vehicle contains evidence of the offense of arrest." Id. at 1723 (emphasis added).

Post-<u>Gant</u>, this Court analyzed the validity of a vehicle search incident to arrest under article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution. <u>See Wright</u>, <u>supra</u>, 155 Wn. App. 537. An officer stopped Wright for a traffic infraction and smelled a strong odor of

¹⁰ The Fourth Amendment guarantees "[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures." U.S. CONST. AMEND. IV.

marijuana coming from the car. Wright, 155 Wn. App. at 542.

Wright appeared nervous and hesitated to open the glove box to retrieve his registration. Id. When Wright finally opened the glove box, the officer saw a ball of money inside. Id. The officer arrested Wright for possession of marijuana, handcuffed him, and placed him under arrest. Id. Wright admitted that he had smoked marijuana earlier that day. Id. A narcotics K-9 alerted to the presence of drugs. Id. at 543. Officers searched the vehicle and recovered, among other things, two bags of marijuana. Id.

This Court determined that the officer had probable cause to arrest Wright for a drug crime. <u>Id.</u> at 556. The facts of Wright's arrest provided the necessary nexus between Wright, his arrest for a drug crime, and the search of his vehicle. <u>Id.</u> at 553. The Court said, "Because the police had probable cause to arrest Wright for possession of marijuana and to search the car for evidence of the drug crime, the search of the passenger compartment of the car incident to arrest did not violate article I, section 7." <u>Id.</u> at 556.

This case also provides the necessary nexus between the defendant, his arrest for providing false information to a public servant, and the search of his backpack. After Brock claimed that he was "Dorien L. Halley" with a date of birth of "7-19-67" and a

social security number ending in "4581," and after Officer Olson was unable to locate such a person in either Washington or California (where Brock claimed to have been issued an identification card), Olson arrested Brock on probable cause that he made a false statement to a public servant. 1RP 36; CP 61 (findings of fact E-H).

The search of the backpack was valid. As in Wright, the police officer here had every reason to believe that evidence of Brock's crime of arrest would be found in the area searched. Olson had already patted Brock down for weapons and knew that he did not have a wallet in his pants. 1RP 40. When Olson asked Brock if he had any identification, he said that he had a library card and started to get it out of his backpack; he then stopped and said he did not have any identification. 1RP 27; CP 61 (finding of fact E). The trial court found that Olson searched the backpack "in an effort to find valid identification." 2RP 6. Olson said that he opened the wallet because he thought it was a "good spot for identification." 1RP 41-42. Thus, here, as in Wright, there was a nexus between the defendant, his crime of arrest, and the search of his backpack.

Moreover, Olson said that when he first saw the backpack, he had safety concerns, which was one reason he carried it to his

patrol car. 1RP 47; <u>but see</u> CP 61-62 (finding of fact J (court found that Olson "did not articulate any officer safety reason to search the backpack.")). Olson said he was by himself, it was 3:00 A.M., and he did not know Brock's identity - he only knew that Brock was not who he claimed to be. 1RP 41. The backpack was "very full." 1RP 47. He did not know if the backpack had weapons that Brock could access. 1RP 47. After Olson had arrested Brock for providing false information, he did not handcuff him - because he knew from his pat-down that Brock was unarmed. 1RP 36-39. But he kept Brock - who was only 12 to 15 feet away from his patrol car - in his view while he searched the backpack. CP 61 (finding of fact F). So, Olson also had safety concerns that justified his search of Brock's backpack.

The trial court correctly found that the initial search of the backpack incident to Brock's arrest was valid. CP 63 (conclusion of law A). The Court should affirm the trial court's denial of Brock's motion to suppress the evidence found in his backpack.

¹¹ Based on Officer Olson's testimony, the trial court's contrary finding is not supported by substantial evidence. <u>See O'Neill</u>, 148 Wn.2d at 571. Even though Olson said that he searched the backpack incident to Brock's arrest, he also had legitimate safety concerns.

c. Olson Lawfully Seized The Backpack.

The validity of Olson's search for Brock's identification, however, does not end the analysis. Although the trial court did not flush out the significance of Olson's seizure of the backpack, the court correctly found that, "Officer Olson's seizure of the defendant and the backpack were lawful." CP 63 (conclusion of law A).

The police may generally seize evidence of a crime when lawfully encountered. <u>United States v. Edwards</u>, 415 U.S. 800, 806-07, 94 S. Ct. 1234, 39 L. Ed. 2d 771 (1974); ¹² <u>State v. Cheatam</u>, 112 Wn. App. 778, 784, 51 P.3d 138 (2002) (citing <u>State v. White</u>, 44 Wn. App. 276, 278, 722 P.2d 118 (1986) (holding that property seized incident to a lawful arrest may be used to prosecute the arrested person for an unrelated crime)), <u>affirmed</u>, 150 Wn.2d 626 (2003). ¹³

The evolving events provided probable cause for Olson to seize and search the backpack. After Olson knew Brock's true identity, he ran a computer check and discovered an outstanding felony arrest warrant. 1RP 44-45; CP 62 (finding of fact L). As Olson confirmed the warrant, he did field tests on the suspected

¹² Fourth Amendment analysis.

¹³ Article I, section 7 analysis.

marijuana and methamphetamine, which came back positive.

1RP 44-48; CP 62 (finding of fact M). Olson then had probable cause to arrest Brock for possession of methamphetamine. More importantly, Olson could then lawfully seize - and search - Brock's backpack. Edwards, 415 U.S. at 806-07; Cheatam, 112 Wn. App. at 784.

For this additional reason, the Court should affirm the trial court's denial of Brock's motion to suppress the evidence found in the backpack.

 Neither <u>Patton</u> nor <u>Valdez</u> Invalidates Olson's Search.

Citing State v. Patton and State v. Valdez, Brock contends that under article I, section 7, police may not search an arrestee's personal effects for evidence related to the offense of arrest unless there are concerns about officer safety or evidence preservation; i.e., the suspect was within reaching distance of the evidence at the time of the search. Brock overstates the holdings of Patton and Valdez, as neither case stands for such a broad limitation on searches incident to arrest.

In Patton, a deputy with a warrant for Patton's arrest observed him standing in his driveway "rummaging around" inside his parked car. Patton, 167 Wn.2d at 384. When the deputy called out to Patton that he was under arrest, Patton fled into his home. where deputies physically detained him, then cuffed and secured him in a patrol car. Id. at 384-85. The police then searched Patton's car and found methamphetamine under the driver's seat. ld. at 385. The Supreme Court stated that the circumstances "simply do not involve a search incident to arrest" in that "[n]o connection existed between Patton, the reason for his arrest warrant, and the vehicle." Id. at 394-95. The court thus held that, under article I, section 7, "the search of a vehicle incident to the arrest of a recent occupant is unlawful absent a reasonable basis to believe that the arrestee poses a safety risk or that the vehicle contains evidence of the crime of arrest that could be concealed or destroyed, and that these concerns exist at the time of the search." ld.

In <u>Valdez</u>, police arrested the driver on an outstanding warrant and searched his car while he was handcuffed and secured in the back of a police car. <u>Valdez</u>, 167 Wn.2d at 766. The court held that the search violated article I, section 7 because it "was not

necessary to remove any weapons the arrestee could use to resist arrest or effect an escape, or to secure any evidence of the crime of the arrest that could be concealed or destroyed." Id. at 778. The court noted that the State had "not shown that it was reasonable to believe that evidence relevant to the underlying crime might be found in the vehicle." Id.

However, here, as discussed above, there was a nexus between Brock, the crime of arrest - and the other crime for which probable cause to arrest and seize the backpack existed - and the subsequent searches. Therefore, <u>Patton</u> and <u>Valdez</u> do not apply.¹⁴

e. State v. Byrd Was Wrongly Decided.

Brock next urges this Court to apply <u>Gant</u> as interpreted by Division Three of this Court in <u>State v. Byrd</u>. ¹⁵ The Court should decline to adopt the rule announced in <u>Byrd</u>, as that case was wrongly decided.

¹⁴ The court in <u>Patton</u> and <u>Valdez</u> did reaffirm the validity of searches predicated on officer safety concerns. <u>Patton</u>, 167 Wn.2d at 386; <u>Valdez</u>, 167 Wn.2d at 768-69. As discussed above, Olson had such concerns.

¹⁵ 162 Wn. App. 612, 258 P.3d 686, <u>review granted</u>, 173 Wn.2d 1001 (2011). The Supreme Court has scheduled oral argument in <u>Byrd</u> for May 15, 2012 (case number 86399-7).

In <u>Byrd</u>, Division Three dramatically expanded the Supreme Court's holding in <u>Gant</u>. Officers stopped Byrd's car because it had stolen license plates on it. 162 Wn. App. at 614. Byrd was in the front passenger seat with her purse on her lap. <u>Id</u>. Officers arrested Byrd for possessing stolen property. <u>Id</u>. After she was handcuffed and secured in the patrol car, officers searched her purse, where they found methamphetamine. <u>Id</u>. Division Three held that under <u>Gant</u>, the search incident to arrest exception did not allow police to search a defendant's purse following arrest, where the defendant was secured in the patrol car at the time of the search. <u>Id</u>. at 617.

In <u>Byrd</u>, Division Three wrongly extended the holding of <u>Gant</u> beyond searches of vehicles to include personal property. Courts have long recognized that a search incident to arrest may include those items that are immediately associated with the person. <u>State v. Smith</u>, 119 Wn.2d 675, 677-78, 835 P.2d 1025 (1992). The holding in <u>Gant</u> was limited to vehicle searches incident to arrest. The Supreme Court did not extend the holding to searches of personal effects found on defendants at the time of their arrest and neither should this Court.

Byrd also did not consider the circumstances unique to personal items like purses and backpacks. In the case of a vehicle, officers can usually leave a vehicle secured while they transport a defendant. On the other hand, officers cannot simply leave a personal item like a backpack or a purse at the scene of an arrest, particularly if they believe that the bag contains contraband, such as weapons or narcotics.

The trial court in this case, unlike the Court of Appeals in Byrd, appreciated the "significant differences between vehicles and personal effects for purposes of requiring a search warrant." CP 63 (conclusion of law A). The court recognized that, "Unlike a vehicle, a backpack cannot be locked and towed while awaiting a search warrant." CP 63 (conclusion of law A); 2RP 10. Olson said that if he had left the backpack at the scene it would have exposed his police department to tort liability. 1RP 52; CP 62 (finding of fact P).

Moreover, in this case, the necessity of transporting the backpack to the jail provided a risk not present in vehicle cases. Even if Olson had transported the backpack in the trunk of his

jail.¹⁷ The fact that Olson did not complete the documentation of the backpack's contents until later is inconsequential.

As discussed above, this Court reviews a trial court's conclusions of law following a suppression hearing *de novo*. The Court may affirm a trial court's decision on a different ground if the record is sufficiently developed to consider the ground fairly. State v. Sondergaard, 86 Wn. App. 656, 657-58, 938 P.2d 351 (1997); see also State v. Louthan, 158 Wn. App. 732, 743-44, 242 P.3d 954 (2010) (affirming the trial court's determination of probable cause to arrest on a ground not considered by the trial court, but developed in the record).

Courts have long recognized that officers may perform an inventory search of personal items subsequent to a lawful arrest without a warrant. <u>Illinois v. Lafayette</u>, 462 U.S. 640, 643-48, 103 S. Ct. 2605, 77 L. Ed. 2d 65 (1983); <u>State v. Smith</u>, 76 Wn. App. 9, 13, 16, 882 P.2d 190 (1994) (recognizing the exception under the federal and state constitutions). The Supreme Court's

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